
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vital Metals Limited 

 

ABN 32 112 032 596  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Financial Report 
 

for the year ended 30 June 2017 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 F

or
 p

er
so

na
l u

se
 o

nl
y



 

1 

 
 Vital Metals Limited 

 

Corporate Information 
 

ABN 32 112 032 596  

Directors 

David Macoboy (Non-Executive Chairman) 

Mark Strizek (Managing Director) 

Andrew Simpson (Non-Executive Director) 

Peter Cordin (Non-Executive Director) 

Francis Harper (Non-executive Director) 

Company Secretary 

Ian Hobson 

Registered Office   

1/91 Hay Street 

SUBIACO  WA  6008 

Telephone: +61 8 9388 7742 

Facsimile: +61 8 9388 0804 

Principal Place of Business   

1/91 Hay Street 

SUBIACO  WA  6008 

Telephone: (08) 9388 7742 

Facsimile: (08)  9388 0804 

Share Register 

Automic Registry Services 

Suite 1a, Level 1 

7 Ventnor Ave    

WEST PERTH  WA  6005    

Telephone:  (08) 9324 2099    

Facsimile:  (08)  9321 2337    

Auditors 

BDO Audit (W.A.) Pty Ltd 

38 Station Street 

SUBIACO   WA   6008 

Bankers 
Commonwealth Bank 

140 St Georges Terrace 

PERTH WA 6000 

Internet Address 

www.vitalmetals.com.au 

Stock Exchange Listing 

Vital Metals Limited shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX code: VML). 

 

 F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

2 

 
 Vital Metals Limited 

 

Contents 
 

Directors' Report 3 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 11 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 12 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 13 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 14 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  15 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 16 

Directors' Declaration 36 

Independent Auditor’s Report

  

37 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

3 

 
 Vital Metals Limited 

 

Directors’ Report   
 

Your Directors submit their report on the Consolidated Entity (referred to hereafter as the Group) consisting of Vital Metals Limited and 

the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2017. 

DIRECTORS   
The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows.  Where 

applicable, all current and former directorships held in listed public companies over the last three years have been detailed below. Directors 

were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities  

David Macoboy, BEcon, BComm (UWA), Non-Executive Chairman, Member of Audit Committee 

Mr Macoboy holds a Bachelor of Economics and a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of WA. David was a Fellow of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors and a Certified Practicing Accountant. He is a former Chairman of Ammtec Limited, AVZ Minerals Limited 

and Territory Resources Ltd and has served on numerous other boards. He has not held any directorships of other listed companies in the 

past three years.  

The Directors and Management of the Company believe Mr Macoboy's cross-industry experience, especially in the areas of corporate 

strategy, finance, treasury, risk management and international fund raising, are skills needed to ensure the company's projects are 

appropiately funded and promoted. 

Mark Strizek, BSc., MAusIMM, Managing Director  

Mr Strizek holds a Bachelor of Science from Macquarie University and is a qualified geologist with over 16 years’ experience in the mining 

industry.  He is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. He has worked in open pit operations and exploration in 

Western Australia and Queensland. He has also worked with Hellman & Schofield Pty Ltd as a consulting geologist, developing resource 

models in commodities such as gold, iron ore, nickel and manganese. Prior to joining the Group, he worked with the Mineralogy group of 

companies where he was involved in project development of iron ore, coal and petroleum resources in both Australia and Papua New 

Guinea. He has not held any directorships of other listed companies in the past three years. 

Andrew Simpson, Grad Dip. Bus (Curtin), MAICD, Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Audit Committee 

Mr Simpson holds a Graduate Diploma in Business and Administration (majoring in Marketing and Finance) from Curtin University and 

is currently the Managing Director and Principal of Resource and Technology Marketing Services Pty Ltd (RTM) in Perth. 

He formed RTM in 1999 to specialise in strategic and business planning, resource project assessment and marketing. RTM is recognised 

as one of Australia’s leading market research consultants to the international mining industry. 

Mr Simpson is non-executive Chairman of Swick Mining Services Ltd, and India Resources Ltd.  He is the former non-executive Chairman 

of Territory Resources Ltd and Kaboko Resources Ltd, and a former non-executive director of Blackwood Corporation Ltd (formally 

Matilda Minerals Ltd).  Mr Simpson is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Peter Cordin, BE, MIEAust, FAusIMM (CP), Non-Executive Director, Member of Audit Committee 

Mr Cordin is a civil engineer with over 40 years’ experience in the evaluation and operation of resource projects within Australia and 

overseas.  He is the former Executive Chairman of Dragon Mining Limited which operated gold mines in Sweden and Finland. He has 

direct experience in the management of diamond and gold operations and has been involved in the development of resource projects in 

Kazakhstan and New Caledonia. 

Mr Cordin is also a non-executive director of Coal of Africa Limited and Aurora Minerals Limited. 

 

Francis Harper LLB (Hons) B.Ec (appointed 15 May 2017) 

Mr Harper has extensive experience in West African mining, having served as Chairman and as a major shareholder of West African 

Resources Limited between 2009 and 2015 where he was integral in the highly successful 2014 acquisition of Channel Resources.  He is 

also a founding director of Blackwood Capital, which has raised over $1 billion for smaller companies over the last 15 years, and manages 

the Blackwood Small Cap Companies Fund. 

Mr Harper has held no other ASX listed company directorships in the past 3 years. 

COMPANY SECRETARY  

Ian Hobson, Bbus, FCA, AICS, MAICD 

Mr Ian Hobson holds a bachelor of business degree and is a Chartered Accountant and Chartered Secretary. Mr Hobson provides company 

secretarial, corporate, management and accounting services to a number of listed public companies involved in the resource, services, 

technology and biomedical industries. 
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Interests in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate 

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares and options of Vital Metals Limited were: 

  Ordinary 
Shares 

Options over 
Ordinary 
Shares 

David Macoboy 17,500,000 9,253,099 

Mark Strizek 3,173,964 28,681,852 

Andrew Simpson 1,684,375 5,168,733 

Peter Cordin 

Francis Harper 

6,931,116 

11,700,000 

5,168,733 

12,500,000 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the Group during the year were mineral exploration in Australia and in Burkina Faso, West Africa.  

There was no significant change in the nature of the Group’s activities during the year. 

DIVIDENDS 

No dividends were paid or declared during the financial year. No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made. 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

The consolidated loss of the Group after providing for income tax amounted to $4,961,426 (2016: $1,156,042).     

The Group has continued to explore and evaluate the Doulnia Gold project in southern Burkina Faso, West Africa. Drilling was undertaken 

at the Kollo Gold Project in recent months. The Watershed Tungsten Project in Queensland was also continued with additional exploration 

and refinements to the Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS).   A rehabilitation provision of $400,000 has been provided to allow for the 

disturbance to the environment to date. 

In the next year, the Group will seek to continue to progress the above projects.  

The Group partly repaid in cash and equity and completed the extension of the $1.4 million balance of the debt facility with Macquarie 

Bank Limited to 31 December 2018.   A rights issue and placements were undertaken during the year to provide funding for the exploration 

progams and to pay principal and interest to Macquarie and for working capital.  

Operating Results for the Year 

Summarised operating results are as follows: 

 2017 

 Revenues 

$ 

Results 

$ 

Consolidated entity revenues and loss from ordinary activities before income tax expense 2,727 ($4,961,426) 

Shareholder Returns 

 2017 2016 

Basic loss per share (cents)  (0.82) (0.31) 

Risk Management 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that activities are aligned with 

the risks and opportunities identified by the board. The Company believes that it is crucial for all board members to be a part of this process, 

and as such the board has not established a separate risk management committee. 

The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management’s objectives and activities are aligned with the risks identified 

by the Board.  These include the following: 

• Board approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses strategy statements designed to meet stake-holders needs and manage business 

risk. 

• Implementation of board approved operating plans and budgets and board monitoring of progress against these budgets. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS  

Other than as disclosed in this Annual Report no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group occurred during the financial year. 
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE  

On 15 September 2017, the Group announced completion of a capital raising by way of a placement of 263,937,807 ordinary shares at 

$0.0075 to raise $1,979,534. Otherwise, there were no significant events after the reporting date. 

 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS  

The Group intends to continue its exploration and development activities on its existing projects and to acquire further suitable projects for 

exploration as opportunities arise. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE  

The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its exploration activities. 

The Group aims to ensure the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in doing so, that it is aware of and is in compliance 

with all environmental legislation. The directors of the Group are not aware of any breach of environmental legislation for the year under 

review. 

REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) 

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.The 

directors and key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2017 were: 

David Macoboy – director 

Mark Strizek – director 

Andrew Simpson – director 

Peter Cordin – director 

Francis Harper – director (appointed 15 May 2017) 

Ian Hobson – company secretary 

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

Remuneration Policy 

Remuneration of Directors and Executives is referred to as compensation throughout this report. Key management personnel including 

directors of the Company and other executives have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 

Group. Compensation levels for directors and Key Management Personnel of the Group are competitively set to attract and retain 

appropriately qualified and experienced directors and executives. 

The Board is responsible for compensation policies and practices. The Board, where appropriate, seeks independent advice on remuneration 

policies and practices, including the compensation packages and terms of employment. No such advice was sought in the current year. 

The compensation structures explained below are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the achievement of strategic 

objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for shareholders. The compensation structures take into account a number 

of factors, including length of service and the particular experience of the individual concerned. 

(i) Fixed Compensation 

Fixed compensation consists of base compensation (which is calculated on a total cost basis and includes any FBT charges related to 

employee benefits including motor vehicles), as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds. Compensation levels are reviewed 

annually by the Board where applicable. 

(ii) Share based remuneration 

Share options are granted to key employees as the Directors believe that this is the most appropriate method of aligning performance to the 

interests of shareholders. The share options are issued under the Vital Metals Ltd Share Option Plan and the Directors feel that it 

appropriately links the long term incentives of key employees to the interest of shareholders. The ability to exercise the options is 

conditional on continued service for a period as determined by the Board upon each issuance of options. The Group does not have a policy 

that prohibits those that are granted share-based payments as part of their remuneration from entering into other arrangements that limit 

their exposure to losses that would result from share price decreases. The share options issued to the Managing Director vest immediately 

on issue and there are no performance conditions because the Board considers the link between the exercise price and share price at time 

of issue to be a satisfactory driver. 

(iii) Service contracts/agreements 

Mark Strizek was appointed on 1 July 2011 as Chief Executive Officer of the Group on a service contract. This contact was for an initial 

term of three months as CEO after which term Mr Strizek was invited to join the Board as Managing Director (effective 7 October 2011) 

for an unlimited term which is capable of termination on 6 months’ notice.  Upon termination Mr Strizek is entitled to payment of his 

notice period. By agreement, Mr Strizek’s salary was adjusted to $200,000 plus superannuation effective 1 April 2017. 

Ian Hobson is engaged on a hourly rate with no notice period or termination clauses. 
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(iv) Non-Executive directors 

Total compensation for all Non-Executive Directors, last voted upon by shareholders at the 2007 AGM, is not to exceed $400,000 per 

annum.  Effective from 1 July 2016, the Company’s Non-Executive Directors remuneration was amended, resulting in the Chairman 

receiving $60,000 per annum inclusive of statutory superannuation and non-executive directors receiving $40,000 per annum inclusive of   

statutory superannuation. 

The remuneration policy for non-executive directors remains unchanged.  

Company performance, shareholder wealth and directors’ and executives’ remuneration 

No relationship exists between shareholder wealth, director and executive remuneration and Company performance due to the infant stage 

of the Company’s operations. 

 

The table below shows the gross revenue, losses and earnings per share for the last five years for the listed entity. 

 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Net loss (4,961,426) (1,156,042) (6,939,729) (1,375,531) (1,350,539) 

Dividends paid - - - - - 

Share price at year end (cents)     1.1    1.1   3.0  3.4  1.2 

Loss per share (cents) (0.82) (0.31) (2.4)         ( 0.6 )         ( 0.6 ) 

Use of remuneration consultants 

The Group did not employ the services of any remuneration consultants during the financial year ended 30 June 2017. 

Details of remuneration 

Details of the remuneration of the directors and the key management personnel of the Group are set out in the following table. 

The key management personnel of the Group are the directors and company secretary. Given the size and nature of operations of the 

Group, there are no other employees who are required to have their remuneration disclosed in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. 

Key management personnel of the Group 

 Short-Term 

Post 

Employment 

Share-based 

Payments 

Share-based 

Payments Total 

 

Salary 

 & Fees Non Monetary Superannuation Options(1) 

 

Shares  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Directors      

David Macoboy (Non-Executive)     

  2017 54,800 - 5,205 77,440 - 134,445 

  2016 49,600 - 4,712 - - 54,312 

Mark Strizek (Managing Director)   

  2017 

  2016 

177,500 

157,570 

- 

- 

16,862 

14,969 

 178,599 

21,974 (1) 

40,000(2) 

- 

412,961 

194,513 

Andrew Simpson (Non-Executive)      

  2017 39,999 - - 43,720 - 83,719 

  2016 27,214 - - - - 27,214 

Peter Cordin (Non-Executive)       

  2017 36,529 - 3,470 43,720 - 83,719 

  2016 24,800 - 2,355 - - 27,155 

Francis Harper (Non- Executive) 

(appointed 15 May 2017)     

 

 

  2017 5,000 - - - - 5,000 

  2016 - - - - - - 

Other key management personnel      

Ian Hobson (Company Secretary)     

  2017 63,500 - - - - 63,500 

  2016 50,450 - - - 3,025 53,475 

 

Total key management personnel compensation   

 

 

  2017 377,328 - 25,537 340,479 40,000 783,344 

  2016 309,634 - 22,036 21,974 3,025 356,669 
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(1) The fair value of the options is calculated at the date of grant using a Black Scholes option valuation model and allocated to each reporting period 

evenly over the period from the grant date to vesting date. The value disclosed is the portion of the fair value of the options recognised in this 
reporting period. 

(2) Shareholders approved the issue of 2,000,000 shares at the market price of 2 cents per share to Mr Strizek at the 2016 AGM. 

 

No proportion of remuneration for any director or executive is performance related. 

 

There were no options granted to key management personnel as compensation during the reporting period, other than those set out below. 

Options granted as compensation 

Options are issued at no cost to Directors and Executives as part of their remuneration. The options are not issued based on performance 

criteria, but are issued to increase goal congruence between Executives, Directors and Shareholders. The following options over ordinary 

shares of the Company were granted to or vesting with key management personnel during the year: 

 Grant Date 

Granted 

& Vested  

Number Vesting Date Expiry Date 

Exercise 

Price 

(cents) 

Fair Value 

per option at 

grant date 

(cents) 

Exercised 

Number 

% of 

Remuneration 

Directors       

Mark Strizek 25/11/2016 6,506,198 25/11/2016 25/11/2018 2.7 0.92 N/A 13.7% 

David Macoboy 25/11/2016 3,253,099 25/11/2016 25/11/2018 2.7 0.92 N/A 20.4% 

Peter Cordin 25/11/2016 2,168,733 25/11/2016 25/11/2018 2.7 0.92 N/A 22.6% 

Andrew Simpson 25/11/2016 2,168,733 25/11/2016 25/11/2018 2.7 0.92 N/A 22.6% 

         

Mark Strizek 02/05/2017 15,000,000 02/05/2017 30/04/2021 2.3 0.79 N/A 32.6% 

David Macoboy 02/05/2017 6,000,000 02/05/2017 30/04/2021 2.3 0.79 N/A 38.7% 

Peter Cordin 02/05/2017 3,000,000 02/05/2017 30/04/2021 2.3 0.79 N/A 32.2% 

Andrew Simpson 02/05/2017 3,000,000 02/05/2017 30/04/2021 2.3 0.79 N/A 32.2% 

Exercise of options granted as compensation 

During the reporting period, there were no shares issued on the exercise of options previously granted as compensation, nor were there any 

modifications to the terms of previously granted options. 

Analysis of options granted as compensation 

Details of vesting profiles of the options granted as remuneration to Key Management Personnel of the Group are detailed below: 

 Options granted    

 Number Date 

% vested in 

current year 

% expired in 

current year 

Financial years in which 

grant vest 

Directors      

Mark Strizek 9,788,658 03/12/2014 - 100% 30 June 2015 

Mark Strizek 7,175,564 23/11/2015 - - 30 June 2016 

Mark Strizek 6,506,198 25/11/2016 100% - 30 June 2017 

Mark Strizek 15,000,000 02/05/2017 100% - 30 June 2017 

David Macoboy 3,253,099 25/11/2016 100% - 30 June 2017 

David Macoboy 6,000,000 02/05/2017 100% - 30 June 2017 

Peter Cordin 2,168,733 25/11/2016 100% - 30 June 2017 

Peter Cordin 3,000,000 02/05/2017 100% - 30 June 2017 

Andrew Simpson 2,168,733 25/11/2016 100% - 30 June 2017 

Andrew Simpson 3,000,000 02/05/2017 100% - 30 June 2017 
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Analysis of movements in options 

The movement during the reporting period, by value, of options over ordinary shares in the Company held by each key management person 

and each of the named executives are detailed below: 

 

Granted in year 

Value of Options 

Exercised in year 

Cancelled / Lapsed in 

year 

 $(A) $(B) $(C) 

Directors    

Mark Strizek 178,599 - 100,000 

David Macoboy 77,440 - - 

Andrew Simpson 43,720 - - 

Peter Cordin 43,720 - - 

(A) The value of options granted in the year is the fair value of the options calculated at grant date using a Black Scholes option 

valuation model. The total value of the options granted is included in the table above. This amount is allocated to remuneration 

over the vesting period. 

(B) The value of options exercised in the year is calculated as the market price of shares of the Company as at close of trading on the 

date the options were exercised after deducting the price paid to exercise the option.   

(C) The value of the options that lapsed during the year represents the fair value of the options calculated at grant date using a Black 

Scholes option valuation model. 

 
Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel 

Shareholding 

The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Vital Metals Ltd and other key management 

personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below. 

 

2017 
Balance at 

start of the 

year 

Received during 

the year on the 

exercise of 

options 

Received as 

Compensation Other changes 

during the 

year 

Balance at 

end of the 

year 

Directors of Vital Metals Limited 

Ordinary shares 

     

David Macoboy 9,000,000 - - 8,500,000 17,500,000 

Mark Strizek  1,173,964 - 2,000,000  3,173,964 

Andrew Simpson 1,684,375 - - - 1,684,375 

Peter Cordin 1,959,350 - - 4,971,766 6,931,116 

Francis Harper - - - 11,700,000 11,700,000 

Other key management personnel of the Group 

Ordinary shares   

 

  

Ian Hobson 210,067 - - - 210,067 

 

Option holding 

The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Vital Metals Ltd and other 

key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below: 

 

2017 Balance at 

start of the 

year 

Granted as 

compensation Exercised 

Other 

changes 

Balance at 

end of the 

year 

Vested and 

exercisable Unvested 

Directors of Vital Metals Limited      

David Macoboy - 9,253,099 - - 9,253,099 9,253,099 - 

Mark Strizek  16,964,312 21,506,198 - (9,788,658) 28,681,852 28,681,852 - 

Andrew Simpson - 5,168,733 - - 5,168,733 5,168,733 - 

Peter Cordin - 5,168,733 - - 5,168,733 5,168,733 - 

Francis Harper - - - 12,500,000(1) 12,500,000 12,500,000 - 

Other key management personnel of the Group      

Ian Hobson - - - - - - - 

All vested options are exercisable at the end of the year. 

(1) Arose from capital raising fee prior to Mr Harper’s appointment as a director. 
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Loans to key management personnel  

There were no loans to key management personnel during the year (2016: nil).  

Other transactions with key management personnel  

There were no transactions with key management personnel during the year other than salaries and wages as disclosed in the remuneration 

report.  

 

Voting and comments made at the Company's 2016 Annual General Meeting ('AGM') 

At the 2016 AGM, 98% of the votes received supported the adoption of the remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2016.  

The Company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration practices. 

End of audited Remuneration Report 
 
DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

During the year the Company held 9 meetings of directors. The attendance of directors at meetings of the board were:  

 Directors Meetings Audit Committee Meetings 

 A B A B 

David Macoboy 9 9 1 1 

Mark Strizek  9 9 * * 

Andrew Simpson 7 9 1 1 

Peter Cordin 8 9 1 1 

Francis Harper (appointed May 2017) - - - - 

Notes 

A – Number of meetings attended. 

B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year.  

* – Not a member of the relevant committee. 

SHARES UNDER OPTION 

At the date of this report there are 186,937,742 unissued ordinary shares in respect of which options are outstanding. 

 Number of options  

Balance at the beginning of the year 91,083,640 

Movements of share options during the year:  

Issued, exercisable at 1.625 cents, on or before 31 December 2018 

Issued, exercisable at 4 cents, on or before 25 November 2018 

86,153,846 

14,096,763 

Issued, exercisable at 2 cents, on or before 30 April 2021 50,000,000 

Issued, exercisable at 2.3 cents, on or before 30 April 2021 27,000,000 

Expired, exercisable at 4.2 cents, on or before 26 November 2016 (13,214,689) 

Expired, exercisable at 5.1 cents, on or before 30 June 2017 (68,181,818) 

  

Total number of options outstanding as at 30 June 2017                                                                                        186,937,742 

 

Movements of share options since 30 June 2017 

Nil 

Total number of options outstanding as date of this report 

 

186,937,742 

 

The balance is comprised of the following: 

Date options issued Expiry date Exercise price (cents) Number of options 

11 Dec 2015 24 Nov 2017 4 9,687,133 

7 Dec 2016 25 Nov 2018 2.7 14,096,763 

12 May 2017 31 Dec 2018 1.625 86,153,846 

12 May 2017 30 Apr 2021 2 50,000,000 

12 May 2017 30 Apr 2021 2.3 27,000,000 

Total number of options outstanding at the date of this report  186,937,742 

No person entitled to exercise any option referred to above has or had, by virtue of the option, a right to participate in any share issue of 

any other body corporate. 
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INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

The Company has entered into an agreement to indemnify all directors and the company secretary against any liability arising from a claim 

brought by a third party against the Company. The agreement provides for the Company to pay all damages and costs which may be 

awarded against the officer or director. 

During the period the Company has paid an insurance premium in respect of a Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance Contract.  The 

insurance premium relates to liabilities that may arise from an Officer’s position, with the exception of conduct involving a wilful breach 

of duty or improper use of information or position to gain personal advantage. 

The officers covered by the insurance policies are the Directors and the Company Secretary. The contract of insurance prohibits the 

disclosure of the nature of the liabilities and the amount of premium. 

 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

The company was not a party to any legal proceedings during the year. 

 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any proceedings to which the 

Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 

No non-audit services were provided by BDO, the Company’s auditor, during the financial year. 

 

The Group has not provided any indemnity to the Auditors. 

 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 11. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

 
 

David Macoboy 

Chairman 

 

Perth, 26 September 2017   
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY JARRAD PRUE TO THE DIRECTORS OF VITAL METALS LIMITED  

As lead auditor of Vital Metals Limited for the year ended 30 June 2017, I declare that, to the best of 

my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 

relation to the audit; and 

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

This declaration is in respect of Vital Metals Limited and the entities it controlled during the period. 

 

 

Jarrad Prue  

Director 

 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 

Perth, 26 September 2017  
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Vital Metals Limited 

 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income 
 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 Notes Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

REVENUE     

Sundry income  2,727 16,722 

Profit on sale of asset  - 40,000 

Total income  2,727 56,722 

    

EXPENDITURE     

Exploration and evaluation expenditure  3,622,109 92,211 

Administration expenses   1,089,499 679,998 

Total expenses 5 4,711,608 772,209 

RESULTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  (4,708,881) (715,487) 

    

Finance income   12,050 11,211 

Finance expense   (264,595) (451,766) 

Net finance expense 4 (252,545) (440,555) 

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX   (4,961,426) (1,156,042) 

INCOME TAX BENEFIT / (EXPENSE) 6 - - 

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF VITAL METALS LTD   (4,961,426) (1,156,042) 

    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (8,925) 4,605 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax  (8,925) 4,605 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS 
OF VITAL METALS LTD  (4,970,351) (1,151,437) 

    

Basic and diluted loss per share for loss attributable to the ordinary equity 

holders of the Company (cents per share)  23 (0.82) (0.31) 

The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

13 

 
 Vital Metals Limited 

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 

AT 30 JUNE 2017 Notes Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

CURRENT ASSETS     

Cash and cash equivalents  7 2,674,830 1,388,368 

Trade and other receivables   69,496 46,412 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   2,744,326 1,434,780 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Property, plant and equipment   23,804 30,379 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 8 7,588,322 7,017,417 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   7,612,126 7,047,796 

TOTAL ASSETS   10,356,452 8,482,576 

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Trade and other payables  9 1,396,661 191,447 

Provisions  43,778 28,527 

Borrowings 10 - 3,000,000 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   1,440,439 3,219,974 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Non-current Borrowings 10 1,308,223 - 

Provisions 11 400,000 400,000 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   1,708,223 400,000 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   3,148,662 3,619,974 

NET ASSETS   7,207,790 4,862,602 

EQUITY     

Contributed Equity  12 47,810,512 41,344,085 

Reserves   2,128,490 1,288,303 

Accumulated losses   (42,731,212) (37,769,786) 

TOTAL EQUITY   7,207,790 4,862,602 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

14 

 
 Vital Metals Limited 

 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

Notes 
Contributed 

Equity 

Share-Based 
Payment 
Reserve 

 

Convertible 

Note  

Reserve 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve 

Accumulated 
Losses Total 

Consolidated  $ $ $ $ $ $ 

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2015  - - 

 

- - (1,156,042) (1,156,042) 

Loss for the year  - - 

 

- - (1,156,042) (1,156,042) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)        

Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations - - 

 

- - 4,605 - 4,605 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) 
FOR THE YEAR  - - 

 

- 4,605 (1,156,042) (1,151,437) 

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS IN THEIR 
CAPACITY AS OWNERS    

 

   

Issue of Shares 12 2,012,886 - - - - 2,012,886 

Share issue transaction costs 12 (183,602) - - - - (183,602) 

Options Issued during the year 24 - 29,664 - - - 29,664 

Convertible Note Issued 24       

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2016  41,344,085 757,110 

 

133,901 397,292 (37,769,786) 4,862,602 

 

Loss for the year  - - 

 

- - (4,961,426) (4,961,426) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)        

Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations  - - 

 

- (8,925) - (8,925) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) 
FOR THE YEAR  - - 

 

- (8,925) (4,961,426) (4,970,351) 

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS IN THEIR 
CAPACITY AS OWNERS    

 

   

Issue of Shares 12 7,303,270 - - - - 7,303,270 

Share issue transaction costs 12 (836,843) - - - - (836,843) 

Convertible note issued  - - 99,541   99,541 

Options issued during the year 24 - 749,571 - - - 749,571 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017  47,810,512 1,506,681 

 

233,442 388,367 (42,731,212) 7,207,790 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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 Vital Metals Limited 

 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 Notes Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Payments for exploration and evaluation costs  (2,455,891) (92,211) 

Payments to suppliers and employees   (674,708) (576,023) 

Interest received   12,050 11,211 

Other receipts  2,727 16,722 

NET CASH (OUTFLOW) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  22 (3,115,822) (640,301) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Payments for property, plant and equipment  - - 

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  - 40,000 

Proceeds from earn-in partner  - 138,966 

Proceeds from R&D incentive claim  - 605,908 

Payments for exploration expenditure  (570,905) (643,821) 

NET CASH INFLOW / (OUTFLOW) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (570,905) 141,053 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Interest paid  (256,831) (272,865) 

Repayment of loan  (1,000,000) (45,000) 

Proceeds from issue of options  2,500 - 

Proceeds from issue of shares  6,663,271 1,900,109 

Payment of capital raising costs  (435,751)  (107,690) 

NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   4,973,189 1,474,554 

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   1,286,462 975,306 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year   1,388,368 413,062 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  - - 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  7 2,674,830 1,388,368 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 

consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting 

of Vital Metals Limited and its subsidiaries. The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. Vital Metals Limited is a company 

limited by shares, domiciled and incorporated in Australia. The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 26 

September 2017. The Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 

 

(a) Basis of preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. Vital Metals Limited is a for-profit entity for the 

purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

(i) Compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of the Vital Metals Limited Group also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

(ii) New accounting standards and interpretations 

New, revised or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted by the Group 

A number of new or amended standards became applicable for the current reporting period.  The adoption of these Accounting standards 

however, did not have any significant impact on the financial performance or position of the Group.  Any new, revised and amending 

Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 

Standards issued but not yet effective 

A number of new standards, amendment of standards and interpretations have recently been issued but are not yet effective and have not 

been adopted by the Group as at the financial reporting date. 

The Group has reviewed these standards and interpretations, and with the exception of the items listed below for which the final impact is 

yet to be determined, none of the new or amended standards will significantly affect the Group’s accounting policies, financial position or 

performance. 

 

Reference 

and title 
Summary Application date of standard * 

Application date  

for Group * 

AASB 9  

Financial Instruments 

 

AASB 9 (December 2014) is a 

new Principal standard which 

replaces AASB 139. This new 

Principal version supersedes 

AASB 9 issued in December 

2009 (as amended) and AASB 9 

(issued in December 2010) and 

includes a model for 

classification and measurement, a 

single, forward-looking ‘expected 

loss’ impairment model and a 

substantially-reformed approach 

to hedge accounting.  

1 January 2018 1 July 2018 

AASB 15   

Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers 

AASB 15 provides a single, 

principles-based five-step model 

to be applied to all contracts with 

customers. Guidance is provided 

on topics such as the point at 

which revenue is recognised, 

accounting for variable 

consideration, costs of fulfilling 

and obtaining a contract and 

various related matters. New 

disclosures regarding revenue are 

also introduced.  

 

Based on an initial impact 

assessment, the new standard is 

1 January 2018 1 July 2018 
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not expected to significantly 

impact revenue recognition. 

AASB 16   

Leases 

This Standard introduces a single 

lessee accounting model and 

requires a lessee to recognise 

assets and liabilities for all leases 

with a term of more than 12 

months, unless the underlying 

asset is of low value.  A lessee is 

required to recognise a right-of-

use asset representing its right to 

use the underlying leased asset 

and a lease liability representing 

its obligation to make lease 

payments. 

1 January 2019 1 July 2019 

* Designates the beginning of the applicable annual reporting period 

(iii) Early adoption of standards 

The Group has not elected to apply any pronouncements before their operative date in the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2015. 

(iv) Historical cost convention 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale 

financial assets, which have been measured at fair value. 

 

(b) Going Concern 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business activity 

and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.   

 

(c) Principles of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Vital Metals Limited (“Company” or 

“parent entity”) as at 30 June 2017 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Vital Metals Ltd and its subsidiaries together 

are referred to in these financial statements as the Group or the consolidated entity. 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is 

exposed to, or has the right to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 

power to direct the activities of the entity. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that 

control ceases.  
 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are 

also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 

have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

 

(d) Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The 

chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been 

identified as the full Board of Directors. 

The Group has identified two reportable segments being exploration activities undertaken in Australia and Burkina Faso. These segments 

include the activities associated with the determination and assessment of the existence of commercially economic reserves, from the 

Group’s mineral assets in these geographic locations. 

Segment performance is evaluated based on the operating profit or loss or cash flows and is measured in accordance with the Group’s 

accounting policies.  

 

(e) Foreign currency translation 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Vital Metals Limited's functional and presentation 

currency. 
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(ii) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates 

of monetary assets and liabilities, denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in profit or loss. 

(iii) Foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to the functional currency as exchange rates at the reporting date. The income 

and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

Foreign currency difference are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve in 

equity. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities are recognised in other  

comprehensive income. When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor 

likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form part of a net 

investment in a foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented in the translation reserve in equity. 

When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are 

reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale. 

 

(f) Finance income 

Finance income comprises interest income earned on funds invested in bank accounts and call deposits. Interest is recognised on an accruals 

basis in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, using the effective interest method. 

 

(g) Income tax 

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable income 

tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused 

tax losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period 

in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions 

taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 

appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it 

arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 

affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 

or substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 

income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable 

amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments 

in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that 

the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the 

deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally 

enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

Tax consolidation 

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated Group with effect from 3 October 2005 

and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date.  The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is Vital Metals Limited. 

The controlled entities have been fully compensated for all deferred tax assets and liabilities transferred to Vital Metals Limited on the date 

of forming a tax consolidated group. The entities have also entered into a tax sharing and compensation agreement where the wholly owned 

entities reimburse Vital Metals Limited for any current income tax payable or receivable by Vital Metals Limited in respect of their 

activities. The group has decided to use the “separate taxpayer within group” approach in accordance with UIG 1052 to account for the 

current and deferred tax amounts amongst the entities within the consolidated group.   

 

(h) Leases 

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as lessee are classified as operating 

leases (note 20). Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a 

straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
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(i) Impairment of assets 

Assets, except for deferred tax assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 

recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of 

assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely 

independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an 

impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

 

(j) Financial assets 

Non-derivative financial assets 

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets are 

recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to 

receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 

financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate 

asset or liability. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the 

Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously. 

The Group has the following non-derivative financial assets: loans and receivables and financial assets available-for-sale. 

Financial assets available-for-sale 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale and that are not classified in 

any of the previous categories of financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein are 

recognised in other comprehensive income and presented within equity in the fair value reserve in equity.  When an investment is 

derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to profit or loss. 

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise equity securities. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  Such assets are 

recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and 

call deposits with original maturities of three months or less. 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated.  All other financial 

liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  The 

Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.  Financial assets and 

liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right 

to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

The Group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: trade and other payables. 

Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial 

recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

 

(k) Property, plant and equipment 

All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 

directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 

future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 

amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 

to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, 

over their estimated useful lives. The rate of depreciation for buildings is 10% and for plant and equipment and office equipment the rates 

vary between 5% and 33.3% per annum. 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. An asset’s carrying amount is 

written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 

1(i)). 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the statement of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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(l) Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

The Group applies the most appropriate accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred for each area of interest. 

From 1 July 2016, the Group has changed its accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred on the Burkina Faso 

area of interest from capitalising to expensing. This change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively from the earliest presented 

reporting period. The result of this retrospective application is no change to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 

Income and no change to the Statement of Financial Position for the comparative periods presented. This change in accounting policy for 

the Burkina Faso area of interest has been made as the directors believe it provides more relevant and reliable information for the users of 

the financial report.  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure for the Australian area of interest continue to be capitalised as follows: 

Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources is the search for mineral resources after the entity has obtained legal rights to explore 

in a specific area, as well as the determination of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource. 

Accordingly, exploration and evaluation expenditures are those expenditures incurred by the Company in connection with the exploration 

for and evaluation of minerals resources before the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral resources are 

demonstrable. 

Accounting for exploration and evaluation expenditures is assessed separately for each ‘area of interest’. An ‘area of interest’ is an 

individual geological area which is considered to constitute a favourable environment for the presence of a mineral deposit or has been 

proved to contain such a deposit. 

Expenditure incurred on activities that precede exploration and evaluation of mineral resources, including all expenditure incurred prior to 

securing legal rights to explore an area, is expensed as incurred. For each area of interest the expenditure is recognised as an exploration 

and evaluation asset where the following conditions are satisfied: 

a) The rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and 

b) At least one of the following conditions is also met: 

i. The expenditure is expected to be recouped through successful development and commercial exploitation of an area of interest, or 

alternatively by its sale; and 

ii. Exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not, at reporting date, reached a stage which permits a reasonable 

assessment of the existence or otherwise of ‘economically recoverable reserves’ and active and significant operations in, or in 

relation to, the area of interest are continuing. Economically recoverable reserves are the estimated quantity of product in an area 

of interest that can be expected to be profitably extracted, processed and sold under current and foreseeable conditions. 

Exploration and evaluation assets include: 

• Acquisition of rights to explore; 

• Topographical, geological, geochemical and geophysical studies; 

• Exploratory drilling, trenching, and sampling; and 

• Activities in relation to evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource. 

General and administrative costs are allocated to, and included in, the cost of exploration and evaluation assets only to the extent that those 

costs can be related directly to the operational activities in the area of interest to which the exploration and evaluation assets relate. In all 

other instances, these costs are expensed as incurred. 

Government grants received in relation to exploration and evaluation expenditure are recorded as a deduction in the carrying value of the 

asset.  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is not depreciated as it is not yet ready for use. 

Impairment testing of exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment if sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility and commercial 

viability or facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is tested for impairment when any of the following facts and circumstances exist: 

• The term of exploration licence in the specific area of interest has expired during the reporting period or will expire in the near future, 

and is not expected to be renewed; 

• Substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area are not budgeted nor planned; 

• Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially viable quantities 

of mineral resources and the decision was made to discontinue such activities in the specified area; or 

• Sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying amount of the 

exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or by sale. 

Where a potential impairment is indicated, an assessment is performed for each cash generating unit that is no larger than the area of 

interest. The Group performs impairment testing in accordance with accounting policy note 1(i). 
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(m) Employee benefits 

(i) Annual leave and long service leave 

Liabilities for annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other 

payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 

are settled. 

(ii) Share-based payments 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including directors) of the Group in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby 

employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’) - refer to note 27. 

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. 

The fair value is determined by an internal valuation using an appropriate option pricing model.  

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 

performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘vesting 

date’). 

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to which 

the vesting period has expired and (ii) the number of options that, in the opinion of the directors of the Group, will ultimately vest. This 

opinion is formed based on the best available information at reporting date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance 

conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition. 

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised 

for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement 

award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award. 

 

(n) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 

cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific 

to the liability. 

Site Restoration 

In accordance with the Group’s environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for site restoration is recognised in 

respect of the estimated cost of rehabilitation, decommissioning and restoration of the area disturbed during exploration activities up to 

reporting date, but not yet rehabilitated. Such activities include dismantling infrastructure, removal and treatment of waste material, and 

land rehabilitation, including re-contouring, topsoiling and revegetation of the disturbed area. 

The amount recognised as a liability represents the estimated future costs discounted to present value at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a 

finance cost in the income statement. 

A corresponding asset is recognised in Property, Plant and Equipment only to the extent that it is probable that future economic benefits 

associated with the rehabilitation, decommissioning and restoration expenditure will flow to the entity. 

Costs arising from unforeseen circumstances, such as contamination from discharge of a toxic material, are recognised as a provision with 

a corresponding expense recognised in the income statement when an obligation, which is probable and capable of reliable estimation, 

arises. 

At each reporting date the site restoration provision is re-measured to reflect any changes in discount rates and timing or amounts of the 

costs to be incurred. Such changes in the estimated liability are accounted for prospectively from the date of the change and are added to, 

or deducted from, the related asset where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity. 
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(o) Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the 

period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of the loan facilities are recognised as 

transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.  

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond is determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible 

bond. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The 

remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option and recognised in shareholders’ equity, net of tax effects. 

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or 

expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and 

the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or 

finance costs. 

 

(p) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of 

the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration. 

 

(q) Earnings per share 

(i) Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the company by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after income 

tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares 

assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 

(r) Goods and Services Tax (GST) and Value Added Tax (VAT) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the 

taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 

payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position. 

 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are 

recoverable from, or payable to the respective taxation authorities, are presented as operating cash flows. 

 

(s) Amendments to AASBs and the new Interpretation that are mandatorily effective for the current reporting period 

The Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (the 

AASB) that are relevant to their operations and effective for the current year. 

New and revised Standards and amendments thereof and Interpretations effective for the current year that are relevant to the Consolidated 

Entity do not have any material impact on the disclosures or the amounts recognised in the Company’s financial statements. 

 

(t) Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of these financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 

exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 

complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are: 

Estimates and assumptions 

Exploration and evaluation assets 

Determining the recoverability of exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy 

(refer Note 1(l)), requires estimates and assumptions as to future events and circumstances, in particular, whether successful development 

and commercial exploitation, or alternatively sale, of the respective areas of interest will be achieved.  

Critical to this assessment are estimates and assumptions as to the timing of expected cash flows, exchange rates, commodity prices and 

future capital requirements. Changes in these estimates and assumptions as new information about the presence or recoverability of an ore 

reserve becomes available, may impact the assessment of the recoverable amount of exploration and evaluation assets. If, after having 

capitalised the expenditure under accounting policy 1(l), a judgement is made that recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, an impairment 
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loss is recorded in the income statement in accordance with accounting policy 1(i). The carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation 

assets are set out in Note 10. 

Site Restoration liability 

Determining the cost of rehabilitation, decommissioning and restoration of the area disturbed during exploration activities in accordance 

with the Group’s accounting policy, requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including: the timing of the cash flows and 

expected life of the relevant area of interest, the application of relevant environmental legislation, and the future expected costs of 

rehabilitation, decommissioning and restoration. 

Changes in the estimates and assumptions used to determine the cost of rehabilitation, decommissioning and restoration could have a 

material impact on the carrying value of the site restoration provision. The provision recognised for each site is reviewed at each reporting 

date and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. The carrying amount of the provision for site restoration is set 

out in Note 14. 

Share-based payment transactions 

The fair value of employee share options is measured using a binomial option valuation model. Measurement inputs include share price on 

measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes 

expected due to publicly available information), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and 

general option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service and non-market 

performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value. 

Compound financial instruments 

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible facility that can be converted to ordinary shares at the option 

of the holder, when the number of shares to be issued is fixed. The liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognised 

initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is recognised initially 

at the difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability component. 

Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying 

amounts.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. The equity component of a compound financial instrument is not remeasured subsequent to initial recognition. 

Interest related to the financial liability I recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. On conversion the 

financial liability is reclassified to equity and no gain or loss is recognised. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and 

liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 

potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. 

Risk management is carried out by the full Board of Directors as the Group believes that it is crucial for all board members to be involved 

in this process. The Managing Director, with the assistance of senior management as required, has responsibility for identifying, assessing, 

treating and monitoring risks and reporting to the board on risk management. 

(a) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the 

Consolidated Entity’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage 

and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates of the CFA Franc in relation to its activities in Burkina Faso. The group 

maintains minimal working capital in Burkina Faso and only transfers cash funds as required, as such the Statement of Financial Position 

exposure at any point in time is not significant. Foreign exchange risk will also arise from future commercial transactions and recognised 

assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency and net investments in foreign operations. 

The Group is also exposed to fluctuations in interest rates in relation to its cash deposits and commodity prices in relation to the carrying 

value of its exploration and evaluation assets. The Group monitors all of the above-mentioned risks and takes action as required. 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, and the effective weighted average interest rate for each class of financial asset and financial 

liability is set out below. 

 

Weighted 
Average 

Interest Rate 
Variable 

Interest Rate 
Fixed Interest 

Rate 
Non-Interest 

Bearing Total 

 % $ $ $ $ 

2017      

Financial Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 0.8 2,674,830 - - 2,674,830 

Trade and other receivables  - - 69,495 69,495 

  2,674,830 - 69,495 2,744,325 

Financial Liabilities      

Trade and other payables  - - 1,396,661 1,396,661 

Borrowings 9.05 1,308,223 - - 1,308,223 

  1,308,223 - - 2,704,884 

Net financial liabilities  1,366,607 - (1,327,166) 39,441 

2016      

Financial Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 0.8 1,388,368 - - 1,388,368 

Trade and other receivables  - - 46,412 46,412 

  1,388,368 - 46,412 1,434,780 

Financial Liabilities      

Trade and other payables  - - 191,447 191,447 

Borrowings 9.05 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 

  3,000,000 - 191,447 3,191,447 

  (1,611,632) - (145,035) (1,756,667) 

  

At 30 June 2017, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 25 basis points from the weighted average rate for the period with all other variables 

held constant, post-tax loss for the Group would have been $6,685 higher/lower (2016: -/+ 25 basis points, $4,029 higher/lower) as a result 

of lower/higher interest income from cash and cash equivalents. 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 

obligations. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is low and limited to cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. The majority of cash and cash 

equivalents $2,674,830 at 30 June 2017 ($1,388,368 at 30 June 2016) are held with financial institutions that have a AA- credit rating 

(Standard & Poor’s). The majority of the receivables relate to amounts owing by project partners.  

The maximum exposures to credit risk are the amounts as shown in the Statement of Financial Position. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d) 

(c) Liquidity risk 

The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and ensuring sufficient cash and marketable 

securities are available to meet the current and future commitments of the Group. Due to the nature of the Group’s activities, being mineral 

exploration, the Group has limited access to credit facilities, with the primary source of funding being equity raisings. The Board of 

Directors constantly monitor the state of equity markets in conjunction with the Group’s current and future funding requirements, with a 

view to initiating appropriate capital raisings as required. 

The financial liabilities of the Group are confined to borrowings (being a convertible loan facility) and trade and other payables as disclosed 

in the statement of financial position. All trade and other payables are due within 12 months of the reporting date. 

The convertible loan facility is due for repayment on 31 December 2018. It is the Directors’ view that the terms of this convertible loan 

facility will likely be re-negotiated and extended. An alternative would be for the financier to exercise their 86.1 million share options at 

an exercise price of 1.625 cents and extinguish the debt.   

 

The following are the contractual maturities of trade and other payables: 

 

Carrying 
Amount 

Contractual 
Cash Flow 

6 Months or 
Less 6 – 12 Months 1 – 2 Years 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

2017      

Non-derivative financial liabilities      

Trade and other payables 1,396,661 1,396,661 1,396,661 - - 

Borrowings 1,308,223 1,308,223 - - 1,308,223 

 2,704,884 2,704,884 1,396,661 - 1,308,223 

2016      

Non-derivative financial liabilities      

Trade and other payables 191,447 191,447 191,447 - - 

Borrowings 3,000,000 3,270,750 3,270,750 - - 

 3,191,447 3,462,197 3,462,197 - - 

 

(d) Accounting classification of Fair Values 

The carrying amounts of all financial assets and liabilities approximate their respective net fair values at reporting date. 

Fair value estimation 

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. Where applicable, further 

information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 

Trade and other receivables 

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market 

rate of interest at the reporting date. 

Trade and other payables 

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, 

discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. 

Borrowings 

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, at the time of for establishing the financial liability and based on the present value 

of the remaining cash flows, discounted at the assessed weighted average cost of capital. 
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The consolidated entity has two reportable segments being mineral exploration and prospecting for minerals in Australia and Burkina Faso. 

Further segment reporting information is provided in Note 1(d).  

 

 Australia Burkina Faso Consolidated Total 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Segment income 2,727 56,722 - - 2,727 56,722 

Reconciliation of segment income to total 

revenue before tax:       

Interest revenue     12,040 11,211 

Total revenue     14,767 67,933 

       

Segment loss - - (3,675,059) (92,211) (3,675,059) (92,211) 

Reconciliation of segment loss to net loss 

before tax:       

Depreciation     (7,522) (3,961) 

Personell expenses     (676,293) (136,796) 

Finance expense     (264,595) (451,766) 

Other corporate and administration     (337,958) (539,241) 

Net loss before tax     (4,961,426) (1,156,042) 

       

Segment operating assets 7,606,733 7,070,565 43,830 22,510 7,650,563 7,093,075 

Reconciliation of segment operating assets 

to total assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents (head office)     2,640,294 1,365,858 

Receivables (head office)     60,201 16,500 

Property, plant & equipment (head office)     5,394 7,143 

Total assets     10,356,452 8,482,576 

       

Segment operating liabilties 463,062 474,459 1,241,175 23,357 1,704,237 497,816 

Reconciliation of segment operating 

liabilities to total liabilities:     

 

  

Payables and provisions (head office) 

Borrowings (head office)     

136,202 

1,308,223 

122,158 

3,000,000 

Total liabilities     3,148,662 3,619,974 

 

 

4. NET FINANCIAL INCOME    

  Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

    

Interest income   12,050 11,211 

    

Interest expense  264,595 406,766 

Facility & establishment fees   - 45,000 

  264,595 451,766 

    

Net finance income/(expense)   (252,545) (440,555) 
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  Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

5. EXPENSES    

The following significant expense items not separately highlighted in the 

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income are 

relevant in explaining the financial performance:    

Operating lease expense 

Share-based payments – consulting / director fees (refer also note 24) 

Depreciation of non-current assets in administration expenses  

35,038 

426,185 

38,384 

36,865 

 

 Buildings  3,035 9,039 

 Plant and equipment  4,846 11,614 

 Furniture and equipment  2,173 2,725 

Less transfer to capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure  (2,532) (19,417) 

Total depreciation  7,522 3,961 

Personnel expenses    

 Wages and salaries  362,351 398,755 

 Contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds  30,550 31,225 

 Other associated personnel expenses  - 462 

 Equity settled share based payment transactions  343,478 29,664 

Less transfer to capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure  (158,044) (323,310) 

Total personnel expenses  578,335 136,796 

6. INCOME TAX    

(a) The major components of income tax are:    

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income    

Current income tax    

Current income tax benefit  - - 

Deferred income tax    

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  - - 

Unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax asset  - - 

Income tax benefit reported in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 

Comprehensive Income  - - 

The aggregate amount of income tax attributable to the financial period differs 

from the amount calculated on the operating loss. The differences are:    

Accounting loss  (4,961,426) (1,156,042) 

Prima facie tax benefit at the Australian tax rate of 28.5% (2016: 28.5%)   (1,364,392) (329,472) 

Add tax effect of:    

Non-deductible items  116,211 9,984 

Tax losses not brought to account  1,248,181 319,488 

R&D expenditure used for tax offset  - - 

Less tax effect of:    

R&D tax offset  - - 

Income tax benefit  - - 

(b) Deferred income tax     

Statement of Financial Position    

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:

  

   

Deferred tax liabilities    

Property, plant and equipment – depreciation  6,303 3,299 

Exploration expenses  1,237,961 1,120,331 

Set-off against tax assets  (1,244,264) (1,123,630) 

  - - 
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  Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

6. INCOME TAX (cont’d)    

Deferred tax assets    

Tax value of losses carried forward  9,385,527 9,280,662 

Set-off of deferred tax liability  (1,244,265) (1,123,630) 

Accrued expenses  12,907 8,978 

Provisions  122,039 122,130 

Other prepayments/capital expenditure  131,879 91,123 

Non-recognition of deferred tax assets  (8,408,087) (8,379,263) 

  - - 

(c) Tax losses 

At 30 June 2017, the Consolidated Entity has $34,129,189 (2016: $32,563,727) of taxable losses that are available for offset against future 

taxable profits of the consolidated entity, subject to the loss recoupment requirements in the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. No deferred 

tax asset has been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position in respect of the amount of these losses, as it is not presently probable 

that future taxable profits will be available against which the company can utilise the benefit.   

Unrecognised deferred tax assets    

Tax losses – revenue (at 28.5% for 2017 30% for 2016)  9,385,527 9,280,662 

 

(d) Tax consolidation legislation 

Vital Metals Ltd and its controlled entities implemented the tax consolidations legislation as of 4 October 2005.  The Australian Tax Office 

was notified of this decision on lodgement of the 2006 income tax return.  

 

 

7. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

Cash at bank and on hand   2,656,080 1,369,618 

Short-term deposits  18,750 18,750 

Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement of financial position and 

the statement of cash flows  2,674,830 1,388,368 

 

Refer to note 2 for the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and credit risk. 

 

  

8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – EXPLORATION & EVALUATION EXPENDITURE   

  Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure    

Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in the exploration and 

evaluation phases:    

Opening net book amount  7,017,417 7,093,240 

Exploration expenditure  4,297,556 761,262 

Exploration expenditure – expensed  (3,622,109) (92,211) 

Partner contributions 

R&D tax incentive claim  

- 

(104,542) 

(138,966) 

(605,908) 

Closing net book amount  7,588,322 7,017,417 

 

The closing balances relate to the following areas of interest: 

Watershed Tungsten Project, Queensland  7,588,322 7,017,417 6,294,658 

Doulnia Gold Project, Burkina Faso   - -  2,279,716 

  7,588,322 7,017,417 8,574,374 
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8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – EXPLORATION & EVALUATION EXPENDITURE (cont’d) 

The recoverability of the carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the successful development and commercial 

exploitation or sale of the respective area of interest. 

 

The Group undertakes at least on an annual basis a comprehensive review for indicators of impairment of these assets.  There is significant 

estimation in determining the inputs and assumptions used in determining the recoverable amounts.  The key areas requiring estimation 

and assumptions may include: recent drill results and reserves and resource estimates; fundamentals and economic factors such as 

commodity prices; exchange rates and current and anticipated operating costs in the industry; and the Group's market capitalisation 

compared to its net assets and independent valuations that may be available. 
 

Watershed Tungsten Project 

The Group holds 100% of the Watershed Project.   At this stage of the project’s development a rehabilitation provision of $400,000 has 

been provided to allow for the disturbance to the environment to date. 

Doulnia Gold Project 

The Doulnia Gold Project Group is located in southern Burkina Faso, West Africa. On 18 July 2013 the Group entered into an agreement 

to acquire the 30% minority interest in two permits included in the Doulnia Gold Project from its joint venture partner, Ampella Mining, 

in exchange for a royalty. The Group owns 100% of all permits that comprise the Doulnia Gold Project. The exploration and evaluation 

expenditure is expensed as incurred. 

 

9. CURRENT LIABILITIES - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  

  Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

 

Trade creditors and accruals   1,396,661 191,447 

Carrying value is considered to approximate fair value. Refer to note 2 for the 

Group’s interest rate and liquidity risk.  

 

10. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – BORROWINGS  

Bank facility at amortised cost  1,308,223 3,000,000 

 

The Group renewed the $3 million debt facility on 4 July 2016 to 30 June 2017. In accordance with the terms of the amended facility, 

Macquarie was previously issued with 68,181,818 options with an exercise price of 4.4 cents which expired on 30 June 2017, which if 

exercised would have extinguished the debt. Macquarie had the option to exercise all or part of the options during the term of the facility. 

On 31st May 2017, the Group partly repaid the $3 million debt facility with Macquarie Bank Limited by $1 million cash and 48,000,000 

shares in the Company to the value of $600,000 leaving a balance of $1.4 million.  In accordance with the terms of the amended facility 

Macquarie was issued with 86,153,846 options with an exercise price of 1.625 cents and expiring on 31 December 2018, which if exercised 

will extinguish the debt. Macquarie has the option to exercise all or part of the options during the term of the facility. The loan facility is 

repayable by 31 December 2018 with an interest rate of 7% over the bank bill swap rate.  As a result of the amendment, an equity element 

was recognised during the year for the revised conversion option of the loan. The debt component was fair valued first using the market 

interest rate and the residual is recognised as equity (being the conversion option). The facility is secured by a general security over all of 

the assets of Vital Metals Limited and its subsidiary, North Queensland Tungsten Pty Ltd. Total assets pledged as security as at 30 June 

2017: $10,353,702. A gross revenue royalty of 1.5% on production from the Watershed Tungsten Project is payable to Macquarie Bank 

Limited. 

 

Accounting standards require the separate recognition of the debt and equity components of the Convertible Loan Facility. At the date of 

recognition of the new convertible note, the debt and equity components of the facility were separated according to their fair values. The 

liability component is subsequently recorded at amortised cost. The liability for the 1.5% royalty has been assessed as being valued at nil at 

both 4 July and balance date due to the early stage of the project and there is no present obligation to pay the royalty at balance date. 

  

11. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS  

Site Restoration Provision     

Opening balance  400,000 400,000 

Additional provision charged to profit or loss  - - 

Closing balance   400,000 400,000 
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12. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY      

(a) Share capital      

  2017 2016 

 Notes 
Number of 

shares 
$ 

Number of 
shares 

$ 

Ordinary shares fully paid  12(b), 12(d) 1,055,751,226 48,211,606 481,070,861 41,344,085 

Total contributed equity  1,055,751,226 48,211,606 481,070,861 41,344,085 

(b) Movements in ordinary share capital     

Beginning of the financial year   481,070,861 41,344,085 316,239,457 39,514,801 

Issued during the year:       

- Rights issue 6 Oct 2015    21,821,604 392,789 

- Rights issue shortfall 15 Oct 2015    1,075,000 19,350 

- Rights issue shortfall 5 Nov 2015    500,000 9,000 

- Placement 5 Nov 2015 (share based payment)    168,055 3,025 

- Placement 5 Nov 2015 (share based payment)    1,993,193 25,912 

- Placement 8 Feb 2016 (share based payment)    4,039,267 75,232 

- Placement 29 March 2016 (share based payment)    782,750 8,610 

- Placement 12 May 2016    72,718,064 799,899 

- Rights issue    61,733,471 679,068 

- Rights issue shortfall 7 July 2016  43,100,877 474,109   

- Placement 26 July 2016   1,132,821 12,461   

- Placement 17 August 2016  68,446,667 1,026,700   

- Placement 30 November 2016  2,000,000 40,000   

- Placement 27 March 2017  140,000,000 1,750,000   

- Placement 9 May 2017  260,000,000 3,250,000   

- Placement 12 May 2017  12,000,000 150,000   

- Placement 12 May 2017 (debt settlement)  48,000,000 600,000   

Less: transaction costs  - (836,843) - (183,602) 

End of the financial year   1,055,751,226 

 

47,810,512 481,070,861 

 

41,344,085 

 

    Number of options 

(c) Movements in options on issue    2017 2016 

Beginning of the financial year     91,083,640 79,710,114 

Issued during the year:       

 Exercisable at 4.2 cents on or before 26 Nov 2016    (13,214,689) - 

 Exercisable at 4 cents on or before 24 Nov 2017    - 9,687,133 

 Exercisable at 5.1 cents on or before 30 Jun 2017    - 68,181,818 

 Exercisable at 2.7 cents on or before 25 Nov 2018    14,096,763 - 

 Exercisable at 1.625 cents on or before 31 Dec 2018    86,153,846 - 

 Exercisable at 2 cents on or before 30 April 2021    50,000,000 - 

 Exercisable at 2.3 cents on or before 30 April 2021    27,000,000 - 

Expired/cancelled during the year:      

 Exercisable at 5.1 cents on or before 30 Jun 2016    - (58,823,529) 

 Exercisable at 5.9 cents on or before 25 Nov 2015    - (7,087,104) 

 Exercisable at 5.3 cents on or before 31 March 2016    - (584,792) 

 Exercisable at 5.1 cents on or before 30 June 2017    (68,181,818) - 

End of the financial year     186,937,742 91,083,640 

 

(d) Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number 
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of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is 

entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. Ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not have 

a limited amount of authorised capital. 

 

(e) Capital risk management 

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 

developments of the business. The Board’s focus has been to raise sufficient funds through equity (via rights issues and placements) to 

fund exploration and evaluation activities. There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. Neither 

the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

Management also monitor capital through the gearing ratio (net debt/total capital). Current gearing ratios are considered acceptable. The 

gearing ratio at 30 June 2017 is shown below:  

  Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

Total borrowings       1,308,223 3,000,000 

Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 7)  (2,674,830) (1,388,368) 

Net debt  (1,366,607) 1,611,632 

Total equity  7,207,790 4,862,602 

Total capital  5,841,183 6,474,234 
 

Gearing ratio  (23.4)%       24.9% 6,294,658 
 

 

13. RESERVES    

(i) Share based payment reserve    

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued. Refer to note 24 for details. 

(ii) Convertible note reserve 

The convertible note reserve is used to recognise the fair value of the equity component of the convertible loan facility as described in 

Note 10.    

(ii) Foreign currency translation reserve 

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entities are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve, as 

described in note 1(e). The reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the net investment is disposed of. 
 

14. DIVIDENDS      

No dividends were paid during the financial year.  No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made. 

 

15.     KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES  Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 
 

Key management personnel compensation 

Short-term benefits  377,328 309,634 

Post employment benefits  25,537 22,036 

Share-based payments  380,479 24,999 

  783,444 356,669 

 

Other disclosures regarding key management personnel are made in the remuneration report on pages 5 to 9. 

 

16. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS    

  Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity for:     

Audit and review of financial reports  37,795 30,520 
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No non-audit services were performed during 2017 or 2016. 

 

17. COMMITMENTS      

(a) Exploration commitments      

The Group has certain minimum obligations in pursuance of the terms and conditions of tenement licences in the forthcoming year. Whilst 

these obligations are capable of being varied from time to time, in order to maintain current rights of tenure to mining tenements, the Group 

will be required to outlay amounts of approximately $678,972 (2016: $458,945). These obligations are expected to be fulfilled in the normal 

course of operations.  

  Consolidated 

  2017   2016 

  $ $ 

(b) Lease commitments: Group as lessee    

Operating leases (non-cancellable):    

Minimum lease payments      

within one year   22,786 22,786 

later than one year but not later than five years   - - 

Aggregate lease expenditure contracted for at reporting date but not 

recognised as liabilities   22,786 22,786 

 

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS      

(a) Parent entity 

The ultimate parent entity within the Group is Vital Metals Limited. 

(b) Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 19. 

(c) Key management personnel  

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 15. 

(d) Loans to related parties 

Vital Metals Ltd has provided unsecured, interest free loans to each of its wholly owned subsidiaries totalling $27,627,926 at 30 June 2017 

(2016: $24,560,832). An impairment assessment is undertaken each financial year by examining the financial position of the subsidiary 

and the market in which the subsidiary operates to determine whether there is objective evidence that the subsidiary is impaired. When 

such objective evidence exists, the Company recognises an allowance for the impairment loss. The Company has recognised cumulative 

impairment losses of $23,769,304 at 30 June 2017 (2016: $21,260,619). 

 

19. SUBSIDIARIES      

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the 

accounting policy described in note 1(c): 

Name Country of Incorporation Class of Shares Equity Holding(1)   

    2017 2016 

    % % 

North Queensland Tungsten Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 

Vital Metals Burkina Sarl Burkina Faso Ordinary 100 100 

(1) The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.  

 

 

20. CONTINGENCIES 

Performance bonds totalling $24,500 (2016: $24,500) have been granted in favour of the Department of Natural Resources and Mines.  

There were no other contingencies. 

 

21. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

On 15 September 2017, the Group announced completion of a capital raising by way of a placement of 263,937,807 ordinary shares at 

$0.0075 to raise $1,979,534. Otherwise, there were no significant events after the reporting date. 
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  Consolidated 

  2017 2016 

  $ $ 

22. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS    

Reconciliation of net loss after income tax to net cash outflow from 

operating activities    

Net loss for the year   (4,961,426) (1,156,042) 

Non-Cash Items     

Depreciation of non-current assets   7,522 23,377 

Non-cash finance expense on loan facility  7,764 133,901 

Share based payments  343,477 41,299 

Shares issued in lieu of Director Fees   40,000 - 

Foreign exchange differences  (8,925) 4,605 

Other Adjustments    

Borrowing costs included as a cash flow from financing activities  - 45,000 

Interest paid included as a cash flow from financing activities  256,831 272,865 

Loss/(Profit) on sale of non-current assets  - (40,000) 

Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from purchase of 

controlled entities   

  

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables   (23,084) 5,929 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables   1,206,768 44,970 

(Decrease)/increase in provisions  15,251 (16,205) 

Net cash outflow from operating activities   (3,115,822) (640,301) 

 

There were no non cash investing during the year (2016: Nil).  Non cash financing activities of $600,000 (refer note 10) occurred during the 

year (2016: $75,912). 

23. LOSS PER SHARE    

(a) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating loss per share    

Loss attributable to the owners of the Company used in calculating basic and 

diluted loss per share   (4,961,426)  (1,156,042) 

    

  Number of shares Number of shares 

(b) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in 

calculating basic and diluted loss per share. 

   

606,394,094 371,421,124 

    

(c) Information on the classification of options    

As the Group has made a loss for the year ended 30 June 2017, all options on issue are considered antidilutive and have not been included 

in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. These options could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future. 

 

24.   SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

(a) Broker options 

50 million options were issued to brokers as part of capital raising.  

The terms and conditions relating to the grants of the broker options are as follows, with all options to be settled by physical delivery of 

shares: 

 

   Number Outstanding at Year End 

Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise Price 2017 2016 

12 May 2017 30 April 2021 $0.02 50,000,000 - 

   50,000,000 - 
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The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2017 was 0.8 cents (2016: Nil).  The value of the options has been recognised 

as a capital raising expense. 

 

The price was calculated by using a Black Scholes model applying the following inputs. 

 

 2017 2016 

Weighted average exercise price (cents) 2.0 - 

Weighted average life of the option (years) 4 - 

Weighted average underlying share price (cents) 1.3 - 

Expected share price volatility 100% - 

Weighted average risk free interest rate 1.95% - 

Historical volatility has been used as the basis for determining expected share price volatility as it assumed that this is indicative of future 

trends, which may not eventuate.  

The fair value and grant date of the options is based on historical exercise patterns, which may not eventuate in the future. 

 

(b) Employee Share Option Plan 

The Vital Metals Limited Share Option Plan was approved in April 2005.  

The issue to each individual Employee, Key Employee or Director is controlled by virtue of the provisions of both the Share Plan and the 

Australian Stock Exchange Limited Listing Rules.  Under the Share Scheme the number of shares an eligible person will be entitled to 

receive each year will be determined by the Board of Directors in their sole discretion. 

Employees, key employees and Directors are entitled to take up ordinary shares at a cost determined by the Board with regard to the market 

value of the shares when the Board resolves to offer the Option. 

The terms and conditions relating to the grants of the share option plan are as follows, with all options to be settled by physical delivery of 

shares: 

 

   Number Outstanding at Year End 

Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise Price 2017 2016 

3 December 2014 26 November 2016 $0.042 - 13,214,689 

11 December 2015 24 November 2017 $0.040 9,687,133 9,687,133 

25 November 2016 25 November 2018 $0.27 14,096,763 - 

23 March 2017 30 April 2021 $0.23 27,000,000 - 

   50,783,896 22,901,822 

 
     

Set out below are summaries of the options granted: 

 Consolidated 

 2017 2016 

 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
cents 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
cents 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 22,901,822 4.12 20,886,585 4.78 

Granted  41,096,763 2.44 9,687,133 4.0 

Forfeited/cancelled - - - - 

Exercised  - - - - 

Expired  (13,214,689) 4.2 (7,671,896) 5.85 

Outstanding at year-end  50,783,896 2.74 22,901,822 4.12 

Exercisable at year-end  50,783,896 2.74 22,901,822 4.12 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 2.51 years (2016: 0.83 

years), and the exercise price ranges from 2.3 to 4.2 cents. 

There were no share options exercised in 2017 or 2016. 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2017 was 0.9 cents (2016: 0.34 cents). 
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The price was calculated by using a Black Scholes model applying the following inputs. 

 

 2017 2016 

Weighted average exercise price (cents) 2.43 4.0 

Weighted average life of the option (years) 2.5 2 

Weighted average underlying share price (cents) 2 1.2 

Expected share price volatility 100% 100% 

Weighted average risk free interest rate 1.95% 2.66% 

Historical volatility has been used as the basis for determining expected share price volatility as it assumed that this is indicative of future 

trends, which may not eventuate.  

The fair value and grant date of the options is based on historical exercise patterns, which may not eventuate in the future. 

 

(b) Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period were as follows: 

 Consolidated 

 2017 2016 

 $ $ 

Options issued to employees/directors 343,478 29,664 

Options issued to Macquarie Bank in lieu of facility fee - - 

Shares issued for consulting services (valued based on services provided) - 11,635 

 343,478 41,299 

Shares issued for capital raising (value based on options value) 401,093 - 

Shares issued for capital raising costs (valued based on services provided) - 75,912 

Shares issued for capitalised exploration (valued based on services provided) - 25,230 

 

25. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION    

The following information relates to the parent entity, Vital Metals Limited, at 30 June 2017. The information presented here has been 

prepared using accounting policies consistent with those presented in Note 1. 

  

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

Current assets  2,671,562 1,381,641 

Non-current assets  5,522,286 4,948,176 

Total assets  8,193,848 6,329,817 

    

Current liabilities  136,202 3,122,158 

Non-Current liabilities  1,308,223 - 

Total liabilities  1,444,425 3,122,158 

    

Contributed equity  47,810,512 41,344,084 

Reserves  1,740,123 891,011 

Accumulated losses  (42,801,212) (39,027,436) 

Total equity  6,749,423 3,207,659 

    

Loss for the year  (1,283,040) (2,785,218) 

    

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (1,283,040) (2,785,218) 

The parent entity did not have any guarantees, contingent liabilities, or any contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant 

and equipment, as at 30 June 2017 or 30 June 2016. 
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 Vital Metals Limited 

 

Directors' Declaration 
 

In the directors’ opinion: 

(a) the consolidated financial statements comprising the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 

financial position, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and accompanying notes set out on pages 16 to 35 are 

in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional 

reporting requirements; and 

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its performance for the 

financial year ended on that date; 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; 

(c) the remuneration disclosures included in the Directors’ Report (as part of the audited Remuneration Report), for the year ended 30 

June 2017, comply with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001; and 

(d) a statement that the attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards has been 

included in note 1(a) to the financial statements. 

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A of the 

Corporations Act 2001. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

 
 
 

David Macoboy 

Chairman 

Perth, 26 September 2017 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 

To the members of Vital Metals Limited 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Vital Metals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the 

Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 

of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 

to the financial report, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the directors’ 

declaration. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including:  

(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its 

financial performance for the year ended on that date; and  

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 

Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 

financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 

given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 

time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.  

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 

a separate opinion on these matters.  
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Accounting for Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

Key audit matter  How the matter was addressed in our audit 

At 30 June 2017, the carrying value of Exploration and 

Evaluation Assets was $7,558,322 (30 June 2016: 

$7,017,417) as disclosed in Note 8.  

As the carrying value of the Exploration and Evaluation 

Asset represents a significant asset of the Group, we 

considered it necessary to assess whether any facts or 

circumstances exist to suggest that the carrying 

amount of this asset may exceed its recoverable 

amount.  

Judgement is applied in determining the treatment of 

exploration expenditure in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AASB 6 Exploration for and 

Evaluation of Mineral Resources.  In particular: 

 Whether the conditions for capitalisation are 

satisfied; 

 Which elements of exploration and evaluation 

expenditures qualify for recognition; and 

 Whether facts and circumstances indicate that 

the exploration and expenditure assets should 

be tested for impairment. 

 

Other information  

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 

information contained in Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2017, but does not include the 

financial report and our auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 

report, and the Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated.  

Our procedures included, but were not limited to:

 Obtaining a schedule of the areas of interest

held by the Group and assessing whether the

rights to tenure of those areas of interest

remained current at balance date;

 Considering the status of the ongoing

exploration programmes in the respective

areas of interest by holding discussions with

management, and reviewing the Group’s

exploration budgets, ASX announcements and

director’s minutes;

 Considering whether any such areas of

interest had reached a stage where a

reasonable assessment of economically

recoverable reserves existed;

 Verifying, on a sample basis, exploration and

evaluation expenditure capitalised during the

year for compliance with the recognition and

measurement criteria of AASB 6;

 Considering whether any facts or

circumstances existed to suggest impairment

testing was required; and

 Assessing the adequacy of the related

disclosures in Note 1(l) and 8 to the financial
report.
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If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date 

of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 

we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 

required to communicate the matter to the directors and will request that it is corrected.  If it is not 

corrected, we will seek to have the matter appropriately brought to the attention of users for whom 

our report is prepared. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 

true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 

financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the group to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website (http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx) at:  

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf 

This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report  

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 5 to 9 of the directors’ report for the year 

ended 30 June 2017. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Vital Metals Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2017, 

complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
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Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 

Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility 

is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 

Australian Auditing Standards.  

 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 

 

Jarrad Prue 

Director 

 

Perth, 26 September 2017 
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